DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE



No. 21-0757

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

FILE COPY

**SHERREE D. MARTIN, EXECUTOR OF
THE ESTATE OF SHIRLEY A. MARTIN,
TRUSTEE OF THE SHIRLEY A.
MARTIN TRUST, and TRUSTEE OF
THE CARL J. MARTIN TRUST**

Petitioner,

v.

**(On Appeal from the Circuit Court of
Upshur County Civil Action No. 20-P-21)**

**WILLIAM A. MARTIN, SHERREE D.
MARTIN, CARL J. MARTIN, II,
TERESA A. MARTIN PIKE, CARL
ROBERT MARTIN, PATRICK
STEPHEN MARTIN, CARLI JO
MARTIN, JEFFREY TODD EDGELL,
MARTINA ELIZABETH ANN EDGELL,
JASMINE PIKE, AND SOPHIA PIKE,
interested parties to the Estate of Shirley A.
Martin, the Shirley A. Martin Trust and
the Carl J. Martin, Trust.**

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court, by Judge Wilmoth, erred in granting Respondent Carl J. Martin, II's injunctive relief and removing Trustee and Executor.
2. The Circuit Court erred in removing Petitioner from her fiduciary positions of Executor and Trustee as no evidence was introduced into the record to allow for the Circuit Court to make such determination under the substantive legal requirements.
3. The Circuit Court erred in failing to consider and apply the standards for issuance of a preliminary injunction.
4. The Circuit Court erred in relying predominantly upon the initial pleading of the Petitioner in granting preliminary injunctive relief.
5. The Circuit Court erred in finding that removing Petitioner from her fiduciary positions served the public interest.
6. The Circuit Court erred in granting injunctive relief when a statutory remedy exists to satisfy claims made by Respondent.
7. The Circuit Court made a clear error in consolidating Respondent's request for injunctive relief and legal claims of Respondent's counterclaim in its order without first providing Petitioner with opportunity to defend herself against Respondent's counterclaims of breach of fiduciary duty by having an evidentiary hearing or allowing a jury to make such a determination of the underlying legal claim.
8. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Petitioner Sherree D. Martin breached her fiduciary duties in her actions as Executrix of the Shirley A. Martin Estate and Trustee of the Carl J. Martin and Shirley Martin Trust by requesting the relief sought in her declaratory judgment action filed under W. Va. Code § 55-13-4, based on the evidence in the record.
9. The Circuit Court erred in finding the Petitioner breached her fiduciary duties as Executor and Trustee as no evidence was introduced to allow for the Circuit Court to make such finding under the substantive legal requirements.
10. The Circuit Court erred in find that Petitioner has used her position of trust to her own benefit in seeking to have several portions of the Will and Trusts modified to favor her personal position as no evidence was introduced into the record that would allow the Court to make such determination.
11. The Circuit Court erred in finding the Petitioner breached her fiduciary duties as Executor and Trustee as no evidence was introduced to allow for the Circuit Court to make such finding under the substantive legal requirements.

12. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Petitioner acted in a self-dealing manner in her fiduciary positions of Trustee and Executor.

13. The Circuit Court erred in finding that there was no ambiguity in what property was encompassed by the term “my residence property” in the Shirley Will as no evidentiary hearing was had to determine what “my residence property” means.

14. The Circuit Court erred in finding there was no ambiguity in the Shirley Martin Will language and that Petitioner created a cloud of title based on the evidence in the record.

15. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Petitioner violated her fiduciary duty as Trustee by creating a cloud of the titled of the Carl J. Martin Trust regarding the Route 20 property by recording a deed on May 26, 2020, as no evidence was introduced into the record that would allow the Circuit Court to make such a finding.

16. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Petitioner violated her fiduciary duties as Executor of the Shirley Will when she filed the litigation in an attempt to create an ambiguity as no evidence was introduced into the record that would allow the Circuit Court to make such a finding.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Sherree D. Martin, former Executor of the Estate of Shirley A. Martin (the “Estate”), Trustee of the Shirley A. Martin Trust (“Shirley Trust”), and Trustee of the Carl J. Martin, Sr. Trust (“Marital Trust”), appeals the preliminary injunctive relief for Respondent, Carl J. Martin, II, for the circuit court’s “*Order Following Hearing on December 23, 2020*” entered on July 20, 2021, in the Circuit Court Civil Action No. 20-P-21 (the “Order”) Martin JA 000530, as reaffirmed in the lower court’s subsequent *Order Following Hearing on August 5, 2021* entered September 1, 2021 (the “Rule 59(e) Order”) Martin JA 000614.

Carl J. Martin, Sr., died testate on August 9, 1996, leaving his will (“Carl’s Will”) dated May 26, 1982. Martin JA - 000015. Article III of Carl’s Will created the Marital Trust (the “Marital Trust” also referenced as “Carl J. Martin Testamentary Trust A” in the record) Martin JA 000016. Shirley A. Martin became the sole Trustee of the Marital Trust with the renunciation of First Community Bank, N.A. Article III, First (A), Paragraphs (4) and (5) of Carl’s Will provided that

the Trustee was to distribute all of the annual income of the Marital Trust to Shirley A. Martin. Further, the Trustee had sole discretion to pay to or for the benefit of Shirley A. Martin, so much or all the principal of the Marital Trust as the Trustee determined was required or desired for her support, welfare, and business interest, respectively. Martin JA - 000018. On approximately October 3, 2016, Shirley A. Martin resigned as Trustee of the Marital Trust. By consent of all the beneficiaries of the Marital Trust, the Petitioner was appointed as successor Trustee. Martin JA-000067-000068.

Shirley A. Martin died testate on August 11, 2019, leaving her Last Will and Testament, dated March 23, 2016 ("Shirley's Will"). Shirley's Will nominated the Petitioner as Executrix. Martin JA – 000079. Shirley's Will was admitted to probate and Petitioner was appointed as executor of the estate.

Article III, Paragraph 3 of Shirley's Will provides that:

"I direct that my Executrix sell my residence property located in Upshur County, West Virginia along with a nonexclusive right of way over across the property devised to my son Carl J. Martin II heretofore, as soon after my death as is practical. My Executrix shall have authority to execute deeds and contracts necessary to convey said real estate and all necessary rights of way hereto. My Executrix shall first offer my residence property to my children at the value ineluctable in my estate. If none of my children elect to purchase my residence property within nine months of the date of my death. My Executrix may sell my residence property to a non-family member."

Martin JA – 000078.

Article III, Paragraph 4 of Shirley's Will provides that:

"I give, devise and bequeath all the rest, residue and remainder of my estate to this Successor Trustee of the Shirley A. Martin Trust Agreement dated the 24th day of November, 1997, as amended and restated by me as Grantor and Trustee, and the property passing hereunder shall be added to the property held in trust by said Trustee and shall become a part thereof, to be administered in accordance with the provisions therein as such exists at the time of my death."

Martin JA – 000079.

On November 24, 1997, Shirley A. Martin established the Shirley A. Martin Trust Agreement (“Shirley Trust”). That trust was amended four times: on 2003 (“2003 Amendment”); 2005 (“2005 Amendment”); 2010 (“2010 Amendment”); and 2016 (“2016 Amendment”). Martin JA – 000090; Martin JA – 000105; Martin JA – 000127; and Martin JA – 000144, respectively.

Through a series of transactions for estate planning purposes, Shirley A. Martin transferred the property located along Route 20 in Buckhannon, West Virginia to Chaumont Properties, LLC. (“Route 20 Property”). Martin JA – 000155.

The 2010 Amendment Article VI (sic) paragraph 1, subparagraph (h) states “The Trustee shall convey by general warranty deed to Sherree D. Martin all of Grantor’s property located on Route 20 on the northside of Buckhannon, West Virginia.” Martin JA – 000132. The 2016 Amendment Article VI, paragraph 1, subparagraph (g) states “The Trustee shall convey by general warranty deed to Sherree D. Martin all of Grantor’s property located on Route 20 on the northside of Buckhannon, West Virginia.

On May 26, 2020, the Petitioner recorded with the Clerk’s office of Upshur County in Deed Book 567, at Page 572, dated July 31, 2000, purporting to transfer from Shirley A. Martin as Executrix of Carl’s Will to Shirley A. Martin, individually, the Route 20 Property.

The 2016 Amendment Article VI, paragraph 1, subparagraph (h) states: “The Trustee shall arrange for Carl J. Martin II and Sherree D. Martin to draw lots for the rest of the Grantor’s real property. After the property is divided, the Trustee shall convey said property to each by general warranty deed which deed shall retain the provision that for the during the lifetime of Sherree D. Martin and Carl J. Martin II if either desires to sell any of said real property, he or she must first

offer the property to the other at appraised value determined by a certified real estate appraiser.”
Martin JA – 000145-000146.

On or around May 4, 2020, Petitioner acting filed the underlying *Petition for Declaratory Judgment* (the “Petition”) under W. Va. Code §55-13-4 seeking three declarations from the Circuit Court. The Petition requested the circuit court to (1) determine the meaning of “my residence property” under Article III, Paragraph 3 of the Shirley Will; (2) determine the meaning of Article IV, Paragraph 1, Sub-Paragraph (g) and (3); to determine a method of distributing the properties of the 2016 Amendment other than “drawing lots” and requested a removal of the right of first refusal of the distributed properties. Martin JA – 000009-000012.

On June 29, 2020, Respondent Carl J. Martin, II, filed his *Answer and Counterclaims of Respondent Carl J. Martin, II* (the “Counterclaim”). The Counterclaim alleges that Petitioner breached her fiduciary duty to the Estate of Shirley A. Martin by filing the Petition. Martin JA – 000204 - 000207.

On November 9, 2020, Respondent filed his *Respondent Carl J. Martin, II's Motion for Preliminary Injunction* (“Motion for Preliminary Injunction”) in which Respondent requested the circuit court for “affirmative injunctive relief, remove Petitioner Sherree D. Martin as Executrix of the Estate of Shirley A. Martin, removing her as Trustee of the Shirley A. Martin Trust, and removing her as Trustee of the testamentary trusts of Carl J. Martin, appoint an independent, third-party to serve in those fiduciary positions.” Martin JA – 000249.

On December 23, 2020, a hearing was heard on the Motion for Preliminary Injunction. During that hearing the Circuit Court ruled in favor of Respondent and directed Respondent to produce an order from the hearing. On July 20, 2021, the Circuit Court entered the Order. Martin JA – 000530-000545. On July 20, 2021, Petitioner filed her *Petitioner's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter*

or Amend the Judgment and Memorandum in Support of Petitioner's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend the Judgment (the "Rule 59(e) Motion"). The Circuit Court had a hearing on the Rule 59(e) Motion on August 5, 2021, The Circuit Court denied the Rule 59(e) Motion. The Rule 59(e) Order was entered on September 1, 2021. Martin JA – 000605-000613. The Circuit Court removed the Petitioner as Executrix of the Estate, Trustee of the Marital Trust, and Trustee of the Shirley Martin Trust. Further in the Order and the Rule 59(e) Order, the Circuit Court ruled that the Petitioner had breached her fiduciary duty as Executor and Trustee.

On August 10, 2021, Petitioner filed a Rule 62(i) which heard on August 24, 2021, and denied in the Order Following hearing on 8/24/21 on September 19, 2021. Petitioner filed its Notice of Appeal of the Rule 59(e) Order¹ with this Court on September 22, 2021.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner filed the Petition under W. Va. Code §55-13-4(c), as Executrix of the Estate of Shirley A. Martin, Trustee of the Marital, and Trustee of the Shirley Trust, to ask the Circuit Court to determine certain terms contained in the Shirley Will, the Shirley Trust, and the Marital Trust.

Respondent filed the Counterclaim alleging that Petitioner breached her fiduciary duty in requesting all relief sought in her Petition based upon her very filing of the Petition, as well as for other unsubstantiated and unproven allegations. While discovery was still ongoing, Respondent filed his Motion for Injunctive Relief requesting an "affirmative injunctive relief, removing Petitioner Sherree D. Martin as Executrix of the Estate of Shirley A. Martin, removing her as Trustee of the Shirley A. Martin Trust, and removing her as Trustee of the testamentary trusts of

¹ "An appeal may be taken from a final order disposing of a motion under Rule 59(e) at any time within the appeal period provided by the entry of the order, or within any proper extension of the appeal period. The denial of a timely filed Rule 59(e) motion is not appealable separately from the underlying judgment that is sought to alter or amend. This is because the two orders, the underlying judgment and the denial of the motion, merge." Davis, Robin Jean, Palmer, Louis J. Jr., *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* Fifth Edition Rule 59 § 59(e) at 1381. (citation omitted).

Carl J. Martin, appoint an independent, third-party to serve in those fiduciary positions, and aware Respondent any other just and equitable relief the Court deems appropriate.” Martin JA – 000249.

The Circuit Court ruled in favor of the Respondent and granted his Motion for Preliminary Injunction and, additionally, made findings of fact that Petitioner breached her fiduciary duty by filing each count in her Petition and committed acts constituting breach of fiduciary duty.

The Circuit Court abused its discretion in granting the injunctive relief by removing Petitioner from her fiduciary positions without any evidence to do so. The Circuit Court failed to consider the elements required to grant injunctive relief. The Circuit Court made findings of fact that the Petitioner breached her fiduciary duty without having a scintilla of evidence presented to support those findings. The Circuit Court improperly applied the elements required for granting injunctive relief and determined that by bringing the Petition, the Petitioner had violated her fiduciary duty.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests oral argument.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

“In reviewing the exceptions to the findings of fact and conclusions of law supporting the granting of . . . [an] injunction, we will apply a three-pronged deferential standard of review. We review the final order granting the . . . injunction and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, we review the circuit court’s underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard, and we review questions of law de novo.” *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins., Co. v. Amerisourcebergen Drug Corp.*, 2021 W. Va. LEXIS 626 at 14, 2021 WL 5296997 (2021)

(quoting *Syl. Pt. I, State By & Through McGraw v. Imperial Mktg.*, 196 W. Va. 346, 472 S.E.2d 792 (1996)).

This Court has ruled under the abuse of discretion standard, it would not disturb a circuit court's decision unless that circuit court made a clear error or judgment or exceeds the bound of permissible choices in the circumstances. *Stanley v. Stanley* 233 W. Va. 505, 508, 759 S.E.2d 452, 455 (2014) (citing *Wells v. Key Communications, L.L.C.*, 226 W. Va. 547, 551, 703 S.E.2d 518, 522 (2010)). "[A]n abuse of discretion occurs when a material factor deserving significant weight is ignored, when an improper factor is relied upon, or when all proper and no improper factors are assessed but the court makes a serious mistake in weighing them." (quoting *Shafer v. Kings Tire Service, Inc.*, 215 W. Va. 169, 177, 597 S.E.2d 302, 310 (2004)). ("[A] court necessary abuses its discretion it bases its ruling on an erroneous assessment of the evidence or an erroneous view of the law." *Beto v. Stewart*, 213 W.Va. 355, 359-360, 582 S.E.2d 802, 806-807(2003)).

This Court has ruled that "[f]inding of fact are not to be made de novo by an appellate court: '[u]nder this standard, appellate courts cannot presume to decide factual issues anew. Our precedent ordains that deference be paid to the trier's assessment of the evidence.'" *Stantec Consulting Servs. v. Thrasher Envtl., Inc.*, 2013 W.Va. LEXIS 1094 at 8, 2013 WL 5676826 (2013) (quoting *Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc.*, 1941 W.Va. 97, 106, 459 S.E.2d 374, 383 (1995)). Findings of fact are clearly erroneous "although there is evidence to support the finding, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. However, a reviewing court may not overturn a finding simply because it would have decided the case differently, and must affirm a finding if the circuit court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety." *Syl. Pt. I*, in part, *In re Tiffany Marie S.*, 196 W.Va. 223, 470 S.E.2d 177(1996). Further,

“‘[W]e should not reverse a trier of fact on a question of credibility when the trier of fact had the advantage of hearing the testimony.’ *State v. Stuart*, 192 W. Va. 428, 433, 452 S.E.2d 886, 891 (1994). ‘The clearly erroneous rule loses none of its rigor “when the [lower] court’s findings do not rest on credibility determination, but are based instead on physical or documentary evidence or inference from other facts.’ *Fraternal Order of Police*, 196 W.Va. at 100, n.4, 468 S.E.2d at 715, n.4 (quoting *Anderson v. City of Bessemer City*, 470 U.S. at 574). ‘We will disturb only those factual findings that strike us wrong with the “force of a five-week-old, unrefrigerated dead fish.’””

Stantec Consulting Servs. v. Thrasher Envtl., Inc., 2013 W.Va. LEXIS 1094 at 9. (quoting *Brown v. Gobble*, 196 W.Va. 559, 563, 474 S.E.2d 489, 493 (1996) (quoting *United States v. Markling*, 7 F.3d 103, 1319 (7th Cir. 1993)).

B. Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 2.

The Circuit Court, by Judge Wilmoth, erred in granting Respondent Carl J. Martin, II’s injunctive relief and removing Trustee and Executor.

The Circuit Court erred in removing Petitioner from her fiduciary positions of Executor and Trustee as no evidence was introduced into the record to allow for the Circuit Court to make such determination under the substantive legal requirements.

The Circuit Court erred in granting the Motion for Preliminary Injunction and removing Petitioner from her roles of Executor of the Estate, as Trustee of the Shirley Trust, and as Trustee of the Marital Trust.

The extent and limits of courts to supervise and direct executors is long established. *Welsh v. Welsh*, 136 W.Va. 914, 925, 69 S.E.2d 34, 40 (1952).

“The Court will not ordinarily usurp the representative’s function of administering the estate to the best advantage of all concerned, and, except in cases of abuse, it will not ordinarily interfere with the discretionary powers conferred on the executor by the will. A court ordinarily has no power to limit the authority of the representative whose duties and powers are fixed by law; nor has it power ordinarily to violate the terms of a valid will, although it may relieve an executor from his duty to carry out the provisions of the will if the best interest of the estate is served thereby.”

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