DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE



#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### **DOCKET NO. 21-0757**

SHEREE D. MARTIN, EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF SHIRLEY A. MARTIN, TRUSTEE OF THE SHIRLEY A. MARTIN TRUST, and TRUSTEE OF THE CARL J. MARTIN, SR. TRUST,

Petitioner Below, Petitioner,

v.

WILLIAM A. MARTIN, SHEREE D.
MARTIN, CARL J. MARTIN, II,
TERESA A. MARTIN PIKE, CARL
ROBERT MARTIN, PATRICK
STEPHEN MARTIN, CARLI JO
MARTIN, JEFFREY TODD EDGELL,
MARTINA ELIZABETH ANN EDGELL,
JASMINE PIKE, and SOPHIA PIKE,
interested parties in the Estate of Shirley
A. Martin, the Shirley A. Martin Trust
and the Carl J. Martin Trust,

Respondents Below, Respondents.

FILE COPY

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in granting injunctive relief. In her trusted positions, Petitioner had fiduciary duties, including not to exercise her duties for her own benefit and a duty to effectuate the terms of the Will and Trusts as the testator and settlor set forth. Based on Petitioner's actions that were adverse to the the terms and her fiduciary duties owed to the Estate, Trusts, and beneficiaries, the Circuit Court found that she had violated her fiduciary duties. Accordingly, the Circuit Court granted relief and removed Petitioner from those fiduciary roles, appointing a third-party to assume the sacred, fiduciary duties in administration of the Estate and Trusts. This Court should affirm the Circuit Court.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

In accordance with Rule of Appellate Procedure 18 (a), oral argument is not necessary because this appeal is frivolous. The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. In addition, this appeal is appropriate for disposition by memorandum decision under the criteria of West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 21(c) because there is no prejudicial error.

#### V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In reviewing the exceptions to the findings of fact and conclusions of law supporting the granting of a temporary or preliminary injunction, we will apply a three-pronged deferential standard of review. We review the final order granting the temporary injunction and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, *West v. National Mines Corp.*, 168 W.Va. 578, 590, 285 S.E.2d 670, 678 (1981), we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard, and we review questions of law de novo. Syllabus Point 4, *Burgess v. Porterfield*, 196 W.Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 114 (1996)." Syl. Pt. 2, Ne. Nat. Energy LLC v. Pachira Energy LLC, 243 W. Va. 362, 844 S.E.2d 133, 135 (2020)(citation omitted).

#### VI. ARGUMENT

Petitioner lists sixteen (16) assignments of error, but some are merely statements of law, others are duplicative or overlapping, and some assert errors that are not argued at all. None of the assignments of error, however, reflect any abuse of discretion by the Circuit Court in removing Petitioner from her fiduciary roles and the factual findings of the Circuit Court in support thereof are not clearly erroneous. Moreover, the Circuit Court appropriately applied the controlling law. For the following reasons, Petitioner is wrong on each assignment of error and this Court should affirm the Circuit Court's decision removing Petitioner from her fiduciary roles and appointing an independent fiduciary to properly administer the Estate and Trusts.

#### A. Petitioner's Assignments of Error

#### 1. and 2. Petitioner Only Cites Standards for Removal of Fiduciary.

Rule 10(c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure provides:

Argument: The brief must contain an argument exhibiting clearly the points of fact and law presented, the standard of review applicable, and citing the authorities relied on, under headings that correspond with the assignments of error. The argument must contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal. The Court may disregard errors that are not adequately supported by specific references to the record on appeal.

(Emphasis added.) "A skeletal 'argument', really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim . . . . Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs." State Dep't of Health and Human v. Robert Morris N., 195 W. Va. 759, 765, 466 S.E.2d 827, 833 (1995).

The headers for Petitioner's first two assignments of error are combined and both contend that the Circuit Court erred in removing her from her fiduciary duties. However, no argument at all is presented. Petitioner also does not citation to any part of the record or to facts. Petitioner sets forth only a collection of caselaw for establishing removal of a fiduciary. Most tellingly, Petitioner does not dispute that the findings and conclusions of the Circuit Court did satisfy those standards for removing her from her fiduciary roles. Accordingly, except as Petitioner has preserved arguments in other assignments of error, Petitioner's failure to adequately present any argument means that Petitioner has waived any such argument that the Circuit Court somehow erred and did not meet the standards for removing her set forth in Assignment of Error Nos. 1 and 2. As such, this Court may disregard Petitioner's first two assignments of error. To the extent Petitioner in her other assignments of error does present arguments and citations in support of claims that her removal was erroneous, those arguments are addressed below.

# 3., 5., and 11. Circuit Court Properly Found Irreparable Harm, Public Interest, and Likelihood of Success on the Merits in Granting Preliminary Injunction.

A circuit court has the discretion to grant a request for preliminary injunctive relief. Camden-Clark Memorial Hospital v. Turner, 212 W. Va. 752, 575 S.E.2d 362 (2002). In considering a motion for preliminary injunction, a circuit court must balance: "(1) the likelihood of irreparable harm to the [moving party] without the injunction; (2) the likelihood of harm to the [non-moving party] with the injunction; (3) the [moving party's] likelihood of success on the merits; and (4) the public interest." Id. at 756, 575 S.E.2d at 366 (internal citations omitted). Petitioner argues that the circuit court erred in determining that Respondent satisfied the burden to show irreparable harm (Assignment of Error No. 3), public interest (Assignment of Error No. 5), and likelihood of success on the merits (Assignment of Error No. 11). Petitioner does not allege any error in the Circuit Court's determination that Petitioner is not harmed by her removal from her fiduciary positions and therefore has waived any claim of error on that element.

The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion finding irreparable harm, likelihood of success on the merits, and that an injunction was in the public interest when granting the injunctive relief and removing Petitioner from the fiduciary roles. First, it is a clear legal right that the beneficiaries are entitled to have the Estate and the Trusts administered with the utmost care and fidelity to the commensurate fiduciary duties as well as in their unbiased interest. "Upon acceptance of a trusteeship, the trustee shall administer the trust and invest the trust assets in good faith, in accordance with its terms and purposes and the interests of the beneficiaries, and in accordance with [the West Virginia Uniform Trust Code]." W. Va. Code § 44D-8-801. A similar duty applies to an executor of a decedent's estate. See Latimer v. Mechling, 171 W. Va. 729, 732, 301 S.E.2d 819, 822 (1983) (holding that "[t]he personal representative of the estate of a deceased acts in a fiduciary capacity."). "Nor must the trustee place himself in a position where his self-interest is antagonistic to the interests of the trust." Smith, 212 W. Va. at 821, 575 S.E.2d at 431 (quoting Board of Trustees, Etc. v. Mankin Inv. Co., 118 W.Va. 134, 142, 189 S.E. 96, 99 (1936)).

However, as the Circuit Court found, Petitioner had engaged in self-dealing in relation to the Estate and Trust by (1) using her fiduciary positions to cancel or avoid terms she was to effectuate; (2) creating a cloud on the title of trust property, and (3) attempting to write-out provisions. See Order Following Hearing on December 23, 2020 ("Order") at \$\\$56-60 (JA 541-42). Those actions were contrary to the testator's intent and contrary to the law of testamentary freedom. "An executor is a quasi-court officer and has the sacred duty of standing in the place of the deceased and administering his or her estate as directed." 31 Am. Jur. 2d Executors and Administrators \{ 343 (Oct. 2020 Update). "A fundamental duty of the trustee is to carry out the directions of the testator or settlor as expressed in the terms of the trust. Any attempt to take action contrary to the settlor's directions may be deemed to constitute a unilateral and invalid deviation from the trust terms even though the trustee is otherwise given broad discretion in administering the trust. This duty of obedience forms a critical aspect of the trustee's role."

General duties—Duty to exercise ordinary skill and diligence, Bogert, et al., Bogert's The Law of Trusts and Trustees § 541 (June 2020 Update). Moreover, Petitioner continued to prosecute the underlying litigation that she filed in her fiduciary capacities for her interests as a beneficiary.

As long as Petitioner continued to violate the sacred duties owed as a fiduciary, Respondents would continue to be irreparably harmed, as money damages would not be sufficient to remedy those violations. In addition, as argued separately in a different assignment of error, there is no adequate remedy at law. See Art. VI, Section 6, below. Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in finding irreparable harm to the moving party existed.

Finally, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the public interest was best served by granting injunctive relief. "An executor is a quasi-court officer and has the sacred duty of standing in the place of the deceased and administering his or her estate as directed." 31 Am. Jur. 2d Executors and Administrators § 343 (Oct. 2020 Update). As part of that sacred duty, "[t]he representative is charged with collecting, preserving, and protecting the assets until distribution, subject to the continuing control of the court, to see that the proceeding is properly carried out in the interests of the public, as well as those whose interests are directly affected." Id. The Circuit Court found that the public interest would be best served by granting injunctive relief because then there would be an independent, third party appointed in the fiduciary roles to actually follow and effectuate the terms as set forth, and it would put an end to Petitioner's self-dealing and breach of fiduciary duties. See Order at ¶ 69-72 (JA 542-43).

Petitioner is appealing the factual basis in other assignments of error, but she cannot argue that the Circuit Court failed to weigh the public interest in its decision. Moreover, in her argument, Petitioner does not dispute or raise as an alleged error of the Circuit Court that her removal in response to her actions in seeking to avoid, remove, modify, or strike terms would be

in the public interest because it supports the "common law testamentary freedom of a person's ability to dispose of property in the manner he or she chooses." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 73 (JA 543).

Petitioner does raise for the first time the specter that "[b]y its ruling, the Circuit Court established an ability of a co-beneficiary, not charged with the duty of administering an estate or trust, to have complete control over the administration by claiming breach of fiduciary duties against a fiduciary for administering, and involving the courts to help interpret, trusts and estates in ways they do not agree with." See Petitioner's Brief in Support of Petition for Appeal ("Petitioner's Brief") at 19-20. Importantly, the law controls the fiduciary duties imposed on someone administering a trust or estate and the law does not agree to allow a fiduciary to administer a trust or estate in violation of the directives of a testator or settlor, providing that such actions are grounds for removal. See Restatement (Third) of Trusts § 76 cmt. (2007) (providing that "The trustee's duty to administer the trust as stated in this Section is an affirmative duty. Thus, a trustee may commit a breach of trust by improperly failing to act, as well by improperly exercising the powers of the trusteeship."); see also Welsh v. Welsh, 136 W. Va. 914, 928, 69 S.E.2d 34, 41 (1952) (recognizing that "in the event [an] [executor] fails or refuses to undertake this duty or otherwise neglects his duties, or fails to resign as such executor. he should be removed and another person appointed in his stead."); and W. Va. Code § 44D-7-706. "A fundamental duty of the trustee is to carry out the directions of the testator or settlor as expressed in the terms of the trust. Any attempt to take action contrary to the settlor's directions may be deemed to constitute a unilateral and invalid deviation from the trust terms even though the trustee is otherwise given broad discretion in administering the trust. This duty of obedience forms a critical aspect of the trustee's role." General duties-Duty to exercise ordinary skill and diligence, Bogert, et al., Bogert's The Law of Trusts and Trustees § 541 (June 2020 Update).

The law expressly provides for removal of a fiduciary when she will not carry out the express terms of a will or trust, as Petitioner did in the underling litigation. Moreover, the Circuit Court did not find that a co-beneficiary who does not agree with an administration can have complete control, which is contrary to the facts in this case and the applied law. In fact, the Circuit Court removed Petitioner only after Petitioner's breach of her fiduciary duties and did not give any control of administration over to any of the co-beneficiaries but rather appointed an independent, third party to serve as fiduciary.

For all the foregoing reasons and the reasons addressed in the other assignments of error that are overlapping, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in finding the likelihood of irreparable harm to the moving party, the public interest was served by granting the injunction, and there was a likelihood of success on the merits when granting the request for injunctive relief and removing Petitioner from the fiduciary roles.

## 4. The Circuit Court Properly Relied on Petitioner's Pleading.

Petitioner's Assignment of Error No. 4 is that the Circuit Court erred in relying predominantly upon her own initial pleading. Petitioner does not deny that her Petition is an admission and admissible evidence. Moreover, Petitioner herself has never denied the existence of the pleading or that she made the pleading in her fiduciary capacities, not in her personal capacity. No evidence is necessary to prove that a pleading exists in a case. There is no requirement—and Petitioner cites to none—that an affidavit is required to attest that a pleading was filed in a case by the party filing the pleading or that the pleading says what it says to be reviewed and relied on by a court in a pending proceeding. Accordingly, there is no basis for finding error in the Circuit Court relied on Petitioner's pleading.

Instead, Petitioner seeks a way to avoid her own pleading admissions. To that end,
Petitioner tries to dismiss her own pleading as something that cannot be relied on. See

Petitioner's Brief at 14 (citing Markwest Liberty Midstream & Resources v. Nutt, 2018 WL 527209 (2018)). However, in Markwest, the trust disavowed the statements in its own pleading. First, the trust plead that irreparable harm was present in its request for a preliminary injunction. Id. at \*4. At the hearing on the trust's motion for preliminary injunction, the trust relied on its pleading and submitted no other evidence. Id. at \*2. The other party presented witness testimony to controvert the claims in the pleading. Id. "[Thereafter], at the hearing, the Trust conceded on the record that it was unable to demonstrate the reasonable likelihood of the presence of irreparable harm. . . . At that point, the Trust abdicated any effort to meet the criteria for issuance of a preliminary injunction." Id. Accordingly, it was held that "to the extent the verified complaint serves as an affidavit, it was controverted, and, as to allegations of irreparable harm, was disavowed by the Trust. Thus, it is an inadequate vehicle for the Trust to meet its burden of demonstrating the necessity of the preliminary injunction." Id. at 4.

In this matter, <u>Markwest</u> is not analogous because the fact of Petitioner's pleading and the language used therein have never been controverted. Petitioner has never denied her own admissions and there is no dispute as to those facts. Petitioner cites to no law to support her attempt in this assignment of error to avoid her admissions in her Petition or limiting a court's ability to review a party's pleading. Accordingly, Petitioner's Assignment of Error No. 4 fails.

#### 6. Circuit Court Properly Found No Adequate Remedy at Law.

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